1981

Shell Oil Co. v. Brinkerhoff-Signal Drilling Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury action by plaintiff back against Shell Oil Company (hereinafter Shell). Shell sued third party defendant Brinkerhoff-Signal Drilling Company (hereinafter Brinkerhoff) under the indemnification provisions of a written contract between those parties.

II. DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Fourth Judicial District Court, Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, granted Brinkerhoff's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Shell's third party complaint.

III. NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant asks this Court to reverse the judgment of the District Court and to remand for trial those issues raised by its third party complaint.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Billie Thomas Back, an employee of Brinkerhoff was injured during the course of an oil well drilling operation being performed under the terms of a written contract between Brinkerhoff and Shell. Plaintiff sued Shell and Shell joined Brinkerhoff as a Third-Party Defendant claiming that Brinkerhoff is obligated to indemnify Shell for any liability Shell may have to Plaintiff Back (R. 5-10). Shell's claim for indemnification is based on a provision in the drilling contract which says:

"11.6 Except as modified by 11.7 below [11.7 deals with Pollution Control], Contractor agrees to protect, indemnify and save Operator, its employees, and agents harmless from and against all claims, demands and causes of action of every kind and character arising in favor of Contractor's employees, Operator's employees or third parties on account of bodily injuries, death or damage to property arising out of or in connection with the performance of this agreement, except where such injury, death or damage has resulted from the sole negligence of Operator, without negligence or willful act on the part of Contractor, its agents, servants, employees, or subcontractors. Contractor shall defend all suits brought upon such claims and pay all costs and expenses incidental thereto, but Operator shall have the right at its option, to participate in the defense of any such suit without relieving Contractor of any obligation hereunder." (R. 25).

Brinkerhoff moved for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the foregoing provision is void or unenforceable under Utah law. (R. 18-19, 51-59). The District Court, for the Fourth Judicial District, Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, granted Brinkerhoff's motion and entered a final order dismissing Shell's Third-Party

Complaint (R. 98-99). Shell appeals from the said final order.

V. ARGUMENT

1. The District Court's Ruling is Directly Contrary to Existing Utah Case Law.

Shell's third party complaint against Brinkerhoff is based on an express written contract requiring Brinkerhoff to indemnify Shell against all claims in favor of Brinkerhoff's employees except where such claims are based upon the sole negligence of Shell. Brinkerhoff has not denied that it entered into the indemnification agreement; and has not alleged that it entered into the contract as the result of any form of coercion or deception. The District Court's dismissal of the third party complaint is, therefore, necessarily a ruling that under Utah law, parties may not validly enter into any agreement where one party agrees to indemnify the other in the event both negligently participate in causing injury to a third person.

This ruling by the District Court is directly contrary to Utah law as announced by this Court in Union Pacific RR Co., v. Intermountain Farmers Assn., 568 P. 2d 724, 726 (1977). In that case, this Court, citing Barrus v. Wilkinson, 16 U. 2d 104, 398 P.2d 207 (1965) Howe Rents Corp. v. Worthen, 18 U. 2d 263, 420 P.2d 848 (1966), and Union Pacific RR Co. v. El Paso Natural Gas Co., 17 U. 2d 155, 408 P.2d 910 (1965), stated that Utah has adopted the majority rule holding that agreements by one party (here Brinkerhoff) to indemnify another party (here Shell) against

claims arising from negligence, including Shell's own negligence, are valid and enforceable. The Intermountain Farmers opinion states the majority rule Utah has adopted in rather cryptic language:

"The intention of the parties governs but the presumption is against any such intention and it is not achieved from general language"

586 P.2d at 726
(emphasis added).

This majority rule has been stated more explicitly:

Broadly speaking, a promise of indemnity for the performance of an act not illegal, immoral, or against public policy is valid. Thus, indemnity against loss on account of a business transaction is proper. And, although there is some earlier authority to the contrary, it is now the prevailing rule that a contract may validly provide for the indemnification of one against, or to relieve him from liability for, his own future acts of negligence provided the indemnity against such negligence is made unequivocally clear in the contract. 41 Am. Jur. 2d. Indemnity § 9 (emphasis added).

The exact same claim Brinkerhoff raises by its present motion was ruled on in Titan Steel Corp. v. Walton, 365 F.2d 542 (10th Cir. 1966). Utah law governed that case, and the Tenth Circuit obviously based its holding on the opinions of the Utah Supreme Court cited above because the indemnification provision at issue in Titan was held enforceable in accordance with its terms despite the fact that the opinion notes that the agreement would have been unenforceable under federal law. The language which was held valid, applicable, and fully enforceable in

accordance with its terms said that the party challenging the validity of the agreement was liable:

" . . . for any and all claims arising from injury to employees of Contractor, or injury to any subcontractor or employees of such subcontractor arising from the performance of the Contract, and for any injury to employees of Owner, or to third persons, or to the public, or their property, caused by any act, or omission of Contractor or subcontractors . . . ; the Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold Owner harmless from liability for any and all losses, claims, damages, expenses and causes of action of every nature whatsoever which may arise out of, or in connection with, the performance of the Contract and which are caused by any act, or omission, of Contractor or subcontractor, their servants, agents, or employees, or may be claimed so to do"

The agreement further provided that this party assumed:

" . . . exclusive responsibility for all injury or damage to persons or property . . . resulting from or arising out of the performance of the work. The subcontractor agrees to indemnify, protect and defend the Contractor and Owner against all claims, suits, losses, damages and costs, including court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, on account of such injury or damage, except when caused by the sole negligence of the Contractor or Owner. . . ."

This language is indistinguishable from that which appears in the contract between Shell and Brinkerhoff. The Tenth Circuit also found indemnification agreements valid under Utah law in Southern Pacific Trans. Co. v. Nelson, 448 F. 2d 121 (10th Cir. 1971).

2. The District Court Must Necessarily Have Based Its Ruling On Erroneous Grounds.

The record indicates that the District Court must have based its decision to grant Brinkerhoff's motion for summary judg-

ment on one or more of three propositions argued by Brinkerhoff:

Contract provisions which purport to relieve a party from liability for its own negligence are against public policy in Utah (R. 55-57).

Express indemnification contracts contravene the exclusive remedy provisions of the Workmen's Compensation statute. (R. 52-54).

Express indemnification contracts are in conflict with the legislative policy of Utah's Comparative Negligence Act. (R. 54-55).

a. Indemnification Contracts Do Not Violate Public Policy.

The proposition that one may validly contract to indemnify another against liability arising from events to which the other's negligence contributed is necessarily an implicit premise of the majority rule discussed above and applied in the Intermountain Farmers decision. A representative sample of the many cases declaring that these agreements are valid and do not violate public policy appears as Appendix I to this brief. The only authority cited by Brinkerhoff in support of its public policy argument is dicta from a 1936 Utah case, Jankele v. Texas Co., 88 Utah 325, 54 P.2d 425. The Jankele opinion, however, was cited by this Court in the Intermountain Farmers opinion as standing for the exact opposite of the proposition argued here by Brinkerhoff. Intermountain Farmers cites Jankele for the proposi-

tion that indemnification agreements are strictly construed. If Jankele had determined such agreements to be invalid, the issue of how they are to be construed would never have been reached.

The error in the District Court's decision is further illustrated by the fact that its order could be cited as authority for the proposition that liability insurance policies are against public policy in Utah. Any liability insurance policy is merely one form of an express contract for indemnification, 41 Am. Jur. 2d Indemnity § 3.

A liability insurance policy has exactly the same effect on the insured as the indemnification contract at issue in this case has on Shell; it obligates another to pay in the event liability is assessed against the beneficiary of the contract. Negligence on the part of the beneficiary is a prerequisite to the imposition of such liability. If Shell's contract is invalid because Utah law somehow always requires all parties to pay directly and exclusively for their own negligence, then it follows that the District Court appears to have declared liability insurance policies invalid under Utah law.

In the District Court, Brinkerhoff argued that indemnification contracts should be declared invalid because they might encourage carelessness.

"The contention that such contracts are an inducement to negligence has been rejected as fanciful or untenable, in view of the many automobile liability insurance policies in existence." 41 Am. Jur. 2d

Indemnity § 9, n. 5, citing Northern-Pacific RR Co., v. Thornton Bros. Co., 206 Minn. 193, 288 NW 226; Griffiths v. Henry Broderick, Inc., 27 Wash. 2d 901, 182 P.2d 18.

b. Utah's Workmen's Compensation Statute Does Not Prohibit Indemnification Contracts.

The indemnification claim at issue in this action is not barred by the workmen's compensation statute. Shell's third party complaint in this action is based upon an express contract for indemnification. The law recognizes a distinction between indemnification founded upon an express contract and indemnification based upon common law equitable principles. The doctrine of common law indemnification is summarized in Restatement, Restitution §§ 76-86. Common law indemnification is predicated upon fault and is a concept of tort law. Prosser, Law of Torts, 4th Ed. § 51, see also Jacobs v. General Accident Fire & Life Assur. Corp., 109 NW 2d 462 (Wis. 1961).

While common law indemnification claims by third parties against employers are generally held to be barred by the exclusive remedy provisions of Workmen's Compensation Acts, (Phillips v. Union Pacific RR Co., 614 p.2d 153 (1980) and Curtis v. Harmon, 552 P.2d 117 (1976) fall within this class of cases.) indemnification claims founded upon express contracts are permitted virtually without exception. The many cases cited in Appendix II to this brief hold that the exclusive remedy provisions of the applicable state and federal Workmen's Compensation statutes do not bar suits founded upon express contracts of

indemnification. These cases recognize that a party's right to contractual indemnification is founded upon a contractual duty which is distinct and wholly independent from the legal basis for common law indemnification. This distinction is particularly well illustrated by Brogdon v. Southern Railway Co., 253 F. Supp. 676 (Tenn. 1966), affirmed 384 F. 2d 220 (6th Cir. 1967).

c. The District Court's Ruling is Contrary to Utah Contract Law.

The District Court has declared a class of contracts invalid under Utah law. This Court has recently reiterated in Park Valley Corp. v. Bagley _____ P.2d _____, Case No. 17162, July 30, 1981 that under Utah law, parties are to be afforded freedom to contract on their own terms without the indulgence of paternalism by the courts in relieving one side or the other from effects of a poor bargain. The District Court's ruling violates this principle.

d. Utah's Comparative Negligence Statute Does Not Prohibit Indemnification Contracts.