1982

# Shell Oil Co. v. Brinkerhoff-Signal Drilling Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an indemnification action brought by Appellant, Shell Oil Company, as a third-party action against Respondent, Brinkerhoff-Signal Drilling Company, for all damages which are awarded to Respondent's employee, Billie Thomas Back, in his personal injury claim against Appellant.

II. DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Fourth Judicial District Court granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing Appellant's Third-Party Complaint.

III. NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent asks this Court to affirm the judgment of the District Court.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

With the following additions, Respondent accepts Appellant's Statement of Facts:

1. Plaintiff Back's Complaint against Appellant alleges a cause of action for negligence based on Appellant's agent's conduct at the accident site (R. 1-2).

2. Respondent has in every way complied with all of its obligations as an employer under the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act, Utah Code Ann. §§35-1-1 through 35-1-106 (1953, as amended), including securing compensation due Plaintiff Back for the alleged injury (R. 52).

#### V. ARGUMENT

##### I. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS ARE DISFAVORED GENERALLY AND SUBJECT TO STRICT CONSTRUCTION AGAINST THE NEGLIGENT INDEMNITEE.

It has been long held by this Court that contracts exempting persons from liability for negligence are contrary to the public policy of inducing the exercise of due care. In Jankele v. Texas Company, 88 Utah 325, 54 P.2d 425, 427 (1936), the Court stated: "It is very doubtful that defendant could relieve itself by contract from its own negligence. Ordinarily, such contracts are contrary to public policy." Thereafter, the Court reasoned that the highest incentive to the exercise of due care rests in a consciousness that a failure to so act will fix liability for any resulting injury.



Although Utah law does not prohibit the enforcement of all indemnity agreements, case law has clearly demonstrated Utah's difference in policy concerns from those cited in Appellant's Brief. In Union Pacific Railroad Company v. El Paso Natural Gas Company, 17 Utah 2d 255, 408 P.2d 910, 913-14 (1965), this Court declared:

[T]he law does not look with favor upon one exacting a covenant to relieve himself of the basic duty which the law imposes on everyone: that of using due care for the safety of himself and others. This would tend to encourage carelessness and would not be salutary either for the person seeking to protect himself or for those whose safety may be hazzarded by his conduct. For these reasons, such covenants are sometimes declared invalid as being against public policy.

The general distaste of the Utah courts for indemnity agreements is increased where an affirmative act of negligence is involved. Barrus v. Wilkinson, 16 Utah 2d 204, 398 P.2d 207, 208 (1965). In Howe Rents Corporation v. Worthen, 18 Utah 2d 263, 420 P.2d 848, 849 (1966), this Court set forth the standard rule of construction wherein the drafter of an indemnity provision which is to relieve him of liability for his own negligence, should have, in case of doubt, the provision strictly construed against him.

This general judicial policy of disfavor toward indemnity agreements has been adopted by the Utah Legislature in Utah Code Annotated §13-8-1 (1953, as amended). Although not strictly applicable to the facts of this case, instructive is

the direction of the statute which prohibits a contractual provision as being against public policy and void when it purports to indemnify a promisee against liability for damages arising from the sole negligence of the promisee pursuant to a construction contract.

Paragraph 11.6 of the Master Rotary Drilling Contract is an attempt by Appellant to contract away liability for its own negligence in violation of the clear public policy of Utah. By way of this standard provision of its form contract, Appellant is attempting to evade responsibility for its own negligent conduct and that of its agents. This is exactly the elusive liability that the Court in Jankele feared. If Appellant can rely upon Paragraph 11.6 for its complete indemnity for "all claims, demands, and causes of action" resulting from personal or property injury to Respondent's employees, there is no incentive for Appellant to exercise due care in its operations.

In its Brief, Appellant relies heavily on cases from numerous other jurisdictions for the proposition that indemnity agreements "are valid and do not violate public policy." Nevertheless, although Respondent recognizes the impressive list of citations in Appellant's Appendix I, it does not agree with Appellant's conclusion. Rather, Respondent asserts that the Court need not go outside this jurisdiction to understand that Utah law will offer an indemnitee protection only in the rarest of circumstances.

Assuming that in the absence of some consideration of public policy militating against it, one may contract to protect himself against liability for loss caused by his negligence, it is nevertheless well settled that contracts in which a party attempts to do so are subject to strict construction against him; and further, that he will be afforded no protection unless the preclusion is clearly and unequivocally stated.

Walker Bank & Trust Company v. First Security Corporation, 9 Utah 2d 215, 341 P.2d 944, 947 (1959). The "majority rule" referred to by Appellant is discussed in Union Pacific Railroad Company v. Intermountain Farmers Association, 568 P.2d 724, 726 (1977), was that there is a presumption against any intention of the parties to form an agreement whereby a negligent party would be indemnified from its own negligent acts. Said presumption could be overcome only by a clear and unequivocal indemnity obligation intended by the parties to cover the specific set of circumstances.

Appellant's overstated argument is best illustrated by its own attempt to parallel the subject indemnity provision with a commercial liability insurance policy. An insurance policy is drafted and sold by a company trained and licensed specifically to offer such services. Such companies are regulated in Utah by the State Insurance Department to assure fair practices and are the subjects of extensive legislation. On the other hand, Respondent is a drilling company. The indemnity provision at issue is but one subparagraph of a 28-page form contract, the main purpose of which is to provide an arrangement

for the drilling of oil wells. The narrow decision of refusing to enforce the subject provision in these circumstances need not be the harbinger of doom for the insurance industry, rather another example of public policy encouraging due care and safety in hazardous operations.

II. THE STATUTORY COMPENSATION PROVIDED BY THE UTAH WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT IS THE ONLY EXPOSURE OF A COVERED EMPLOYER TO LIABILITY FOR AN EMPLOYEE'S INJURY.

Section 35-1-60 of Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) gives an injured employee the right to recover compensation pursuant to the Workmen's Compensation Act from the employer. It further provides that such compensation,

shall be the exclusive remedy against the employer . . . and the liabilities of the employer imposed by this act shall be in place of any and all other civil liability whatsoever, at common law or otherwise, to such employee or . . . any other person whomsoever, on account of any accident or injury . . . incurred by such employee in the course of . . . his employment, and no action at law may be maintained against an employer . . . based upon any accident, injury, or death of an employee.  
(Emphasis added)

The Utah State Supreme Court has early addressed the exclusiveness of the statutory remedy. "Since the enactment of the Workmen's Compensation Act in 1917, the exclusive remedy of an employee who is injured in the course of his employment is the right to recover the compensation provided for in the Act . . . ." Murray v. Wasatch Grading Company, 73 Utah 430, 435, 274 P. 940, 942 (1929). This Court declared that the Act abrogates "the employee's common law right to sue the



employer for any and all injuries suffered while in the course of his employment, except in those cases where the employer was not subject to the act or the common law remedy of an employee was expressly reserved by the act." Masich v. United States Smelting, Refining & Mining Company, 113 Utah 101, 191 P.2d 612, 616 (1948).

In its Brief, Appellant cites the Tenth Circuit case of Titan Steel Corporation v. Walton, 365 F.2d 542 (10th Cir. 1966) for the proposition that the "exclusive remedy" provision of the Utah Act is in fact non-exclusive as to contractual indemnity to third parties. Since the facts set forth in Titan appear analogous to those of the present case, the reasoning of the Tenth Circuit merits analysis. Nevertheless, Utah State courts do not accept rulings of Federal Courts as binding authority for the law of this State. Beal v. Turner, 22 Utah 2d 418, 454 P.2d, 624, 625 (1969).

In Titan, the Court reviewed an action on an indemnity agreement between an indemnitor-employer covered by the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act and a negligent indemnitee-third party as it related to injuries suffered by an employee, and noted that such "release-from-negligence contracts" are seen by federal law as contrary to public policy. The sparse Utah law upon which the Court could rely concerned only the issue of the validity of indemnity agreements generally. The conflict between indemnity agreements and the exclusive remedy provision of the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act had not, nor has it to

date, been presented to the Utah State Supreme Court. Neither was the Tenth Circuit presented with any case from another jurisdiction construing the exclusionary language in a Workmen's Compensation statute as forbidding enforcement of an indemnity contract where a negligent third party would be indemnified by the employer from all liability arising out of the injury of a covered employee. Therefore, absent support to the contrary, it upheld the agreement.

Since that time, this Court has unambiguously extended the Act's exclusive remedy provisions to preclude third-party actions against an employer.

The exclusive remedy provisions of both the Utah and North Carolina Workmen's Compensation provisions make it clear that an employer's only liability for injuries sustained by an employee is the extent of benefits under the Act. Additional exposure through the indirect method of third-party action would be a blatant violation of expressed legislative policy.

Phillips v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, 614 P.2d 153, 154  
(Utah, 1980). (Emphasis added)

Appellant has listed numerous cases in its Appendix II which allegedly "hold that the exclusive remedy provisions of the applicable state and federal Workmen's Compensation statutes do not bar suits founded upon express contracts of indemnification." However, a review of the respective statutes and factual circumstances surrounding the cited authorities offer insight into the reasoning of those other jurisdictions. Appendix A to Respondent's Brief annotates the cases cited by Appellant,

very few of which actually uphold an express indemnity agreement. And, those that do, concern distinguishing contractual provisions and/or are governed by a statute which differs materially from Utah's.

Perhaps the most evenly-balanced controversy in all of compensation law is the question of whether a third party in an action by the employee can get contribution or indemnity from the employer, when the employer's negligence caused or contributed to the injury.

Larsen's Workmen's Compensation Law, §76.10 at 14-287.

Several jurisdictions have recently decided that the Legislature alone should make the exceptions to the exclusivity provisions of their Workmen's Compensation Acts. Indeed, Texas, Pennsylvania, and Minnesota have recently amended their statutes to expressly allow third-party indemnity agreements to be enforced against an otherwise immune employer.

In Gulf Oil Corporation v. Rota-Cone Field Operating Company, 84 N.M. 483, 505 P.2d 78 (1978), New Mexico's Workmen's Compensation Act was tested by an attempt to enforce a third-party indemnity agreement on facts indistinguishable from the present case.

This case presents a question of first impression in New Mexico. Is an employer subject to liability in addition to the Workmen's Compensation Act where the employer voluntarily enters into a contract which also seeks indemnity? We say "no."

505 P.2d at 79. Voiding only the provisions of the contract which relate to indemnification, the court declared the statute

to be a prohibition of any additional liability sought to be imposed on a covered employer.

Alabama has encountered several cases much like this one. In Paul Krebs & Associates v. Matthews & Fritts Construction Company, 356 So. 2d 638 (Ala. 1978), the court was faced with an indemnity clause similar to that in the Master Rotary Drilling Contract. There, as here, an employee of the indemnitor was injured on the job partially due to the negligence of the indemnitee. The employee was precluded from suing his employer because of the exclusivity clause of the state's Workmen's Compensation statute (similar to Utah's). When the employee sued the indemnitee, a third-party action was brought against the employer. The Alabama State Supreme Court refused to enforce the indemnity provision and upheld the dismissal of the third-party action stating: "To allow a third-party tort-feasor to recover over against the employer for injury to an employee would be to allow indirectly what is prohibited directly." Id. at 639. Overruling a prior inconsistent decision and citing Gulf Oil Corporation v. Rota-Cone Field Operating Company, 84 N.M. 483, 505 P.2d 78 (1972), the Alabama court held that its Workmen's Compensation Act compelled the result since enforcement of the agreement would "write into the legislation an exception which is not there." Id. at 640.

In Hertz Equipmental Rental Corporation v. Dravo Corporation, 360 So. 2d 325 (Ala. 1978), the Alabama court again reached the same legal conclusion, citing Paul Krebs as



dispositive of the issue. "The right to indemnity from Dravo is founded on a contractual duty which is unenforceable as violation of a legislative enactment. Most recently, that court echoed the same policies in Stauffer Chemical Company, Inc. v. McIntyre Electric Service, Inc., 401 So. 2d 745 (Ala. 1981).

Michigan and Massachusetts have also recently joined the growing number of jurisdictions which refuse to enforce indemnity agreements in contravention of State Workmen's Compensation statutes. In Darin & Armstrong, Inc. v. Ben Agree Company, 276 N.W. 2d 869 (Mich. App. 1979), the court refused to enforce the indemnity provision as void as against public policy. "Nor could the provision be used to indemnify Darin & Armstrong from its concurrent negligence; this would be akin to contribution, which is forbidden by Michigan courts where worker's compensation is involved." Id. at 873. In Luken v. Westermann, C.A. 70-511-M (February 23, 1972) (unpublished opinion by the United States District Court in Massachusetts), Judge Murray refused enforcement of contractual indemnity as violative of the Workmen's Compensation Act of Massachusetts. See, Roy v. Star Chopper Co., Inc., 442 F.Supp. (D.R.I. 1977).

The legal positions taken by these courts are not without theoretical opposition from other jurisdictions; however, in light of the strong legislative and judicial statements of policy in Utah, this State has demonstrated its intent to align itself with those jurisdictions upholding clear public

policy over an oppressive indemnity agreement.

Respondent has complied with the Utah Act and, as an employer, has compensated Plaintiff Back for his alleged injuries. The third-party action brought by Appellant for indemnification from Back's suit now threatens to violate both the language and the purpose of the Workmen's Compensation Act. Additional liability is sought to be attached to Respondent indirectly through the third-party action, yet that liability is undeniably resultant from the accident. This is a direct violation of the mandate of Section 35-1-60 and is incompatible with the clear interdiction of legislative policy encompassed in the Act.

III. THE LEGISLATIVE POLICY OF THE UTAH COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE ACT IS TO APPORTION LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES PROPORTIONATELY TO THE NEGLIGENCE OF EACH PARTY.

Sections 78-27-37 through 78-27-43 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) are the legislative adoption of comparative negligence in Utah. The basic scheme of compensation diminishes total damages in a negligence action in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to the person recovering. Joint tort-feasors then assume responsibility for damages due in proportion to their "relative degrees of fault" causing the injury. Thus, the clear legislative policy of Utah is that the parties should be responsible for their proportion of the negligent cause of injury.

Paragraph 11.6 of the Master Rotary Drilling Contract is plainly in contravention of the unequivocal policy in the Utah Comparative Negligence Act. Through this indemnity agreement, Appellant seeks to shift all responsibility for the alleged injury to Plaintiff Back to Respondent. The unfairness and obvious violation of Utah public policy is illustrated if Appellant were 99 percent at fault and Respondent only 1 percent responsible. Disregarding the legislative policy, Appellant's contractual provision would make Respondent liable for 100 percent of the proven damages.